STREETS AND WALKWAYS SUB (PLANNING AND TRANSPORTATION) COMMITTEE

Tuesday, 19 November 2024

Minutes of the meeting of the Streets and Walkways Sub (Planning and Transportation) Committee held at Committee Room 3 - 2nd Floor West Wing, Guildhall on Tuesday, 19 November 2024 at 1.45 pm

Present

Members:

Graham Packham (Chairman)
Deputy John Edwards (Deputy Chairman)
Deputy Randall Anderson
Mary Durcan
Deputy Marianne Fredericks
Deputy Shravan Joshi MBE
Eamonn Mullally (Ex-Officio Member)
John Foley (Ex-Officio Member)

Officers:

Baljit Bhandal - Comptroller and City Solicitor's

Department

Ben Bishop - Environment Department
Ian Hughes - Environment Department
Gillian Howard - Environment Department
Bruce McVean - Environment Department
Tom Noble - Environment Department
Giles Radford - Environment Department

- Town Clerk's Department

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were received by Brendan Barns, Deputy Alastair Moss, and Ian Seaton.

2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN RESPECT OF ITEMS ON THE AGENDA

No declarations were made under the Code of Conduct in respect of items on the agenda.

3. MINUTES

Callum Southern

RESOLVED – That, the public minutes of the previous meeting held on Tuesday 1 October 2024 were agreed as an accurate record of the meeting.

4. BANK JUNCTION IMPROVEMENTS: EXPERIMENTAL TRAFFIC ORDER TO REINTRODUCE TAXIS

The Sub-Committee received a Gateway 3/4 report which introduced a new phase into the Bank Junction Improvements project following the completion of the main construction works for All Change at Bank, and the decision by the Court of Common Council to move forward with an Experimental Traffic Order (ETO) at Bank. The report set out the routing options for licensed taxis to travel through Bank Junction.

Officers provided a presentation on the five routing options discussed in the report. For all options access to Cornhill from Princes Street for vehicles making deliveries (for servicing) would be maintained. Officers explained that Option A allowed taxis access and egress into the junction from Poultry and Cornhill and egress only via Lombard Street. Option B only allowed taxis to enter the junction via Cornhill and Poultry, and also only to allow exit in those two directions so that there would be no turning movements. Option C would allow taxis to do what they currently could do after 7:00pm Monday to Friday which meant they would be allowed to enter and exit on three of the arms of the junction, (Poultry, Cornhill and Lombard Street). Option D allowed for north-south routing into and out of the junction (Princess Street and Lombard Street) and would allow taxis to exit via Cornhill and Poultry. Option E would open four of the arms off Bank Junction (Princess Street, Poultry, Cornhill and Lombard Street) for taxis to enter Bank Junction and exit. Officers added that Option D and E would likely require the reconfiguration of Princes Street.

A Member queried why it was not possible to have only northbound traffic from taxis on King William Street as it would allow taxis to use King William Street without exacerbating issues on Lombard Street. Officers stated it was technically possible and was an option that had not be considered.

Another Member queried whether allowing only northbound traffic from taxis on King William Street would create a turning movement. The Member stated it would be a turning move, but would allow more access for taxis which was desirable without affecting Lombard Street.

A question was asked by a Member on how success criteria would be quantifiably measured if Option B was adopted. Officers explained that they had set out what the broad measures could be and had sought agreement on that. Officers added they needed to do some work with Transport for London (TfL) about what tolerances they may feel comfortable with, particularly around bus journey times as that was the aspect of the project that would affect them most. Officers confirmed the monitoring strategy would come to the next meeting in February.

The Member also queried what measures would be taken to ensure the safety of cyclists and pedestrians at Bank Junction. Officers stated there would not be any physical changes except for the signage. Officers added that they could potentially look at enforcement.

The Member further queried, if there was a will for a different option, how the project would address potential negative impacts of bus journey times. Officers explained more work would need to be done with TfL, but it would effectively involve adding more pedestrian wait time into traffic signals to allow for more vehicle movement, but that had negative consequences. The Member stated that what they were hearing was Option B was the optimal proposal for achieving what the Court of Common Council had asked the Sub-Committee to investigate. Officers agreed as it offered the ability to allow taxis through Bank without impacting too negatively on everyone else and did not involve having to adjust traffic signals too much.

Another Member stated they supported Option B as Bank Junction had become a complex web of movements and he felt Option B had the simplest line of logic east to west and was easy to communicate to the users of Bank Junction. The Member added that, the stated desired outcome from cab drivers had been a both ways east-west -movement.

The Member also stated, if Option B was approved, that they wanted to understand more on how the consultation would operate, the process once the ETO had been established and how the feedback loop from the consultation would feed into a more permanent decision. Officers explained there would be a draft communications and engagement strategy appended to the next report which would be draft for feedback to ensure it had been sufficient captured.

A Member suggested only allowing westbound taxi movement from Cornhill into Poultry and eastbound movement through Princes Street and around so there would not be eastbound movement from Poultry into Cornhill, this would reduce the conflict between traffic coming from Poultry to Cornhill at the same time as traffic tried to travel from Princes Street into Cornhill. The Member also stated a need to widen the success criteria to measure the impact of the changes on the traffic lights on a wider scale across the City, a need to measure the accessibility of taxis during the day, and how many taxis were making use of Bank Junction who were transporting passengers. Officers stated the attraction to Option B was the simplicity of the communications for road users, specifically taxi drivers, and it was difficult to describe the different routes for eastbound and westbound across the Junction. Officers also stated they needed to keep the movement from Princes Street to Cornhill for everyone due to loading requirements and noted that all the options presented to the Sub-Committee retained that aspect. Officers added, in relation to other things that needed to be looked at, that they were in the report for things to be brought forward for Members' consideration at the end of the process on issues such as the wider impact on the traffic network around taxi availability, safety, pedestrian wait times and bus journey times. Officers further added that they felt they were the key things to be monitored, but that was not to say there were the only things.

The Member also suggested that Paragraph 46 of the report needed to read "monitoring should include" rather than "monitoring could include" and stated while Option B might be easier to explain from a communications perspective, it did not demonstrate the full picture as traffic that needed to get into Cornhill

could go to Cornhill via Princes Street, and if that movement was not communicated effectively, it could create a risk of collision.

The Member also asked, in relation to success criteria, whether the trial would be stopped or whether it would continue until there were further accidents.

The Chairman stated he did not understand why there would be a risk of collisions with traffic turning left from Princes Street into Cornhill with taxis entering the junction from Cornhill as there were traffic lights in place. The Member responded that pedestrians had been crossing the junction without taking notice of the traffic lights for a number of years and the Bank Junction had dramatically changed since the traffic had been significantly reduced. The Member added that reintroducing traffic would be a new environment for pedestrians and was keen to ensure the number of turning options were reduced as far as possible to keep it as safe as possible.

A Member moved a Motion.

MOTION: That the existing option which was Princes Street into Cornhill to go West-East for all traffic and taxis, and if one wanted to go east to west, they would do so via Cornhill into Poultry so that would keep a lot of the traffic away from that Junction.

A Member seconded the Motion.

The Chairman brought the meeting to a debate on the Motion.

A Member queried whether the concern raised was pedestrians being irresponsible and stated that was an issue that could not be helped. Another Member stated that there was an increase in pedestrians since traffic had been taken out of the Junction and this encouraged pedestrians to informally cross the Junction using desire lines because there had been very little traffic.

Another Member indicated the Sub-Committee had to be careful as five options had been developed in consultation with TfL traffic modelling to identify what the best options were and expressed concern that Members were now trying to reformulate a sixth option which they unsure the Sub-Committee was qualified for. The Member added that the Sub-Committee could renegotiate it through the Officer team, if it wished, to look at another option, but stated that it had to be mindful of the professional body of officers in attendance and was wary of looking at other options now.

A Member told the Sub-Committee that there was a valid point to be made that those who used the Bank Junction area of the City had changed their perception of it and one would notice if they observed the area that there were people everywhere during the day and it was literally a new space. The Member added there was a question about how we simplify it and the whole reason it would be brought to Committee proceedings was to get the opportunity to get the wisdom of the crowd which may provide different dimensions not previously considered. The Member stated there was a need to

mitigate potential implications and noted that the Order would occur anyway as the Court of Common Council had asked for the trial to take place, so some time for reflection seemed appropriate.

Another Member stated that opening the junction up both ways east-west would supplant a fair number of the current access via Princes Street and that was a turning movement the Sub-Committee did not want and suggested the Option B presented was actually safer, as well as being easier to explain. The Member added they would oppose the Motion.

The Chairman moved the meeting to a vote and asked the proposing Member to wrap-up.

The Member stated that the whole purpose of the Motion was that there was current movement already from Princes Street into Cornhill and the public and cyclists were aware of that movement. The Member added by just having Cornhill into Poultry, it introduced one more movement, not two, as Option B proposed two and the existing third one. They further added that by having the existing one and allowing all traffic and taxis to use that and a new route which was Cornhill to Poultry, that was two directions, not three which would actually reduce the impact on signal changes and the effect of increased traffic outwards. The Member stated they felt that was easier to communicate as Option B was two plus the existing one which made three and felt it would be more acceptable to TfL. The Member further added that Officers may not have thought of that approach and the point of Members taking decisions was to ensure they could scrutinise decisions.

The Town Clerk read out the Motion made by the Member.

Having fully debate the Motion, the Committee proceeded to vote on the Motion to Amend before them.

Votes were cast as follows: IN FAVOUR – 2 votes
OPPOSED – 7 votes
There were 0 abstentions.

The Motion, therefore, fell.

The Chairman brought the discussion back to the substantive item.

The Chairman asked Officers what the plans were for gathering good benchmarking data so the impact of the trial could be evaluated. Officers explained it would be part of the January report as the monitoring strategy would be attached to that and that would set out what Officers planned to monitor when the experiment proceeded and would outline what baselines would be set.

The Chairman queried when the experimental trial was likely to begin. Officers stated the purpose of the January report was largely to get feedback before the Court of Common Council elections and the rest of the work would continue so

a submission could be made to TfL for the traffic management approval. Officers added they had hoped to do that in March 2025, but felt that would slip due to difficulties on TfL's side. Officers stated they had hoped they could implement the experimental traffic order in late Spring, but until TfL had examined the programme on traffic modelling, an update could not be provided. The Chairman asked if the delay was related to IT issues at TfL. Officers confirmed it was.

A Member noted that ordinarily the Corporation would budget for the whole project and expressed concern that a significant amount of money was being spent to get to a point where the cost could be estimated and getting agreement on how to fund the implementation, this was not the way a project was supposed to be carried out.

The Member suggested approving the project subject to the total estimated cost being approved by the two other Committees that had to approve it. The Sub-Committee indicated agreement.

Officers stated they had enough budget to get to the point of implementing the scheme and were aware, depending on the decision of the Sub-Committee, how much was needed to deliver the monitoring once the scheme was in place and knew they initially did not have enough money to do that. Officers added that monitoring and other asks would inform how much it would cost to reach the conclusion of the trial scheme and, if Members approved the funding requested, Officers could estimate what would be required, the shortfall, and could take that to the officer review groups, RASC and P&R.

Officers stated it was a key decision being requested as it established the way forward with one version of a model of the junction and one set of criteria. Officers added that there would likely be a bid for the On Street Parking Reserve which is where the existing funding had come, and wanted to get that allocated sooner rather than later.

The Chairman queried when that allocation would occur. Officers indicated it would be around the next bidding round potentially before the end of the year and would need to double-check the timelines as it may not be something that could be agreed in January before the Court of Common Council elections. Officers suggested they would look to see if there was an approval process that could be done in lieu of that so the funding could be allocated.

A Member indicated they were happy to agree the recommendations and support Option B, subject to the funding being put in place to ensure that it could be delivered as they did not want to spend more to find out the OSPR had all been spent. Officers indicated it could be validated in the January report. The Committee indicated agreement with ensuring the funding was put into place to ensure that the ETO could be delivered.

A Member asked if the monitoring would include ensuring that taxis were not using Princes Street as they were not meant to and was a service access only route from Cornhill. Officers explained taxis could legitimately use Princes

Street to access Cornhill if they wished to and added that the monitoring would do traffic counts on all arms of the junction which would enable Officers to see if usage had increased or decreased.

Another Member suggested they were happy to leave Bank Junction as it was as they did not want to put taxis through at all and indicated they wished to vote for the option that brought about the least amount of change. The Chairman stated he believed it was Option B.

A question was raised by a Member as to what other projects would have to be shelved to cover the funding for the ETO as a lot of money had been spent on Bank Junction to date and there were a number of streets that required safety measures being put into place. Officers indicated that the OSPR was still in surplus and explained the point of having the chief officer review group, RASC and P&R processes. Officers added they would review it, but were equally respectful of the Court decision and needed to offer something that was a full well-rounded view of what the project intended to measure and experiment on. Officers further added the project was the highest priority not currently funded.

The Member also queried whether there were any other options for funding RASC could find rather than using the On-Street Parking Reserve. Officers stated that there were limited funds available to look at other options, but there was a considerable allocation already from the On-Street Parking account and from the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) which were two of the primary routes for funding for Vision Zero.

The Member suggested a report could be written for the Sub-Committee highlighting outstanding safety projects which needed to be funded and could not be funded from the OSPR so alternative funding could be sought. Officers stated it would be worth spending committees understanding what portfolio of projects they were responsible for and noted there was a project governance review of projects and how they were reported to ensure Committees had a broader sense of what commitments they had and what they might wish to with available funding. Officers suggested there was a need for a report which summarised the projects being delivered and, when the project governance review had concluded, a conversation could be had with the Chairman and Deputy Chairman about what reports could be brought to the Sub-Committee so a broader understanding of funding commitments was provided.

A Member suggested there was another option where the Sub-Committee could send a message to the Court outlining that it did not support any of the options and taxis should not be going through Bank Junction.

The Member asked whether taxis were being prevented from coming from Princes Street into Cornhill unless they were dropping off a passenger and indicated there was no reason for that not to continue if it was not being enforced. The Member also added that anyone who believed the amount of taxi movements would change needed to think again as there were well-established patterns of behaviour.

The Member also stated they understood that the Planning & Transportation Committee (P&T) had delegated powers to the Streets and Walkways Sub-Committee rather than it being a pure spending Committee and suggested it would be helpful to understand that further. Officers stated they were personally referring to it as a spending committee and potentially needed guidance from the Town Clerks and the Chamberlain's Department. The Officer added that the Sub-Committee did make decisions, and their minutes were reviewed by P&T. The Town Clerk clarified that the Sub-Committee approved its own minutes, and the minutes went to P&T for noting. The Town Clerk also indicated they would come back with a response.

The Chairman suggested that the number of left turns that taxis made would potentially drop once the experiment went ahead as there would be a route west through Bank Junction and if taxis were taking the left turn to go east for non-servicing reasons, they might find the new option more convenient.

RESOLVED – That, Members agreed:

- That Option B is approved to be taken forward to the next stage of traffic modelling, subject to the cost total estimated cost being approved by the Resource Allocation Sub-Committee and Policy and Resources Committee. This option would allow taxis to enter and exit Bank Junction via Cornhill and Poultry only, during the restricted hours of Monday to Friday 7am to 7pm.
- 2. Subject to further agreement with TfL, that the four broad key success criteria of Taxi Availability, Safety, Pedestrian Wait times and Bus journey times, as set out in Paragraphs 32-44, are agreed.
- 3. Note the other areas proposed to be included in the monitoring strategy in paragraphs 45-49.
- 4. Note the total estimated cost of the project (to reintroduce taxis to Bank junction through an experimental traffic order) is £760k-860k (excluding risk);
- 5. That a Costed Risk Provision of £150k is retained for this gateway (to be drawn down via delegation to Chief Officer).
- 6. Note that the total Project Budget (all phases) currently sits at £7.3M (including risk.)

Deputy Marianne Fredericks asked for it to be formally noted that she voted against the recommendations.

5. LEADENHALL STREET IMPROVEMENTS - CITY CLUSTER VISION PROGRAMME

The Sub-Committee received a Gateway 3: Outline Options Appraisal report sought in relation to improvements on Leadenhall Street to enhance the experience of walking, wheeling and cycling. The project also sought to include pavement widening, new and improved crossings, public realm enhancements, greening and seating.

A Member commented it was a fantastic scheme and was exactly what was needed.

Another Member stated he did not disagree but questioned how Members could add value to the project and asked Officers to provide some more detail on metrics of success. Officers explained that one success metric in relation to the scheme was improved pedestrian comfort levels and Officers would also undertake a further Healthy Streets check to measure against what was currently shown. Officers added an accessibility check would also be carried out at the end to ensure that what had been implemented matched what was intended.

The Member queried how the success would be measured, particularly in relation to increase safety due to the change of road layout. Officers stated that the current situation had been measured with a score, and a score would be provided at the end of the process which would be brought back to Sub-Committee. In relation to road safety, Officers noted they would undertake a multistage road safety audit before constructions of different options and eventually the final option. Officers told the Sub-Committee that there would be a road safety audit three at the end of the scheme to check whether anything had transpired that was not expected.

Another Member sought assurance that the project was able to deal with overheating and climate change extremes given the amount of people who would be working in the area and the heating effect of the buildings and stated it was important there was street level and greening.

A Member sought to understand the communication strategies in place to ensure stakeholders were kept informed throughout the project. Officers told the Sub-Committee that was an existing programme board which dealt with high-level stakeholders and the plan, when public consultation started, was to send a leaflet out to a massive area to try to engage people and that exercise would be repeated with different letters and communications to try to get as much engagement as possible. Officers added they would keep updating the website and should stakeholders miss the consultation, they could speak to Officers directly.

The Sub-Committee was told by another Member that the project would be a huge addition to Destination City and, from a Culture, Heritage and Libraries point of view, it would be wonderful for those coming into the City.

RESOLVED – That, Members:

- 1. Approved an additional budget of £295,000 to reach the next Gateway funded from S106 budgets as detailed in Appendix 2;
- 2. Noted the revised project budget of £686,000 (excluding risk);
- 3. Approved the principles of the highway and public realm design and the proposed way forward detailed in this report to further develop this;
- 4. Approved a Public Consultation and Engagement exercise be undertaken based on the design and principles set out in section 4,

- paragraph 4 of this report, and for the final detail of this to be agreed with the Director of City Operations;
- Agreed the reporting approach as detailed in section 5, paragraph 12 of this report, including the proposal to combine the Gateway 4 and 5 reports; and
- 6. Noted the project's total estimated cost range of £8m- £9.5m (inclusive of costed risk and any maintenance sums) and the funding strategy in Appendix 2.

6. LLOYDS AVENUE IMPROVEMENTS (COOL STREETS AND GREENING PROGRAMME AND CITY CLUSTER PROGRAMME)

The Sub-Committee received a Gateway 4 Detailed Design report on a project which sought to deliver the addition of greening and the incorporation of sustainable drainage whilst providing more seatings in the public realm. The project also sought the introduction of a series of rain gardens at the north and south ends of Lloyds Avenue, with associated pavement widening, the introduction of seating adjacent to the new planting to provide space for people to rest, and the relocation of payment parking bays, e-scooter & cycle hire bay and motorcycle bay to provide space to enable the introduction of the scheme.

A Member enquired into whether there was a projected timeline for the project. Officers explained it was part of the Cool Streets and Greening Programme, and some local consultation was currently underway which was almost complete. Officers added they would then develop the detailed design and aimed to build it in mid-to-late 2025, subject to the advertisement of traffic orders which was needed to move the parking around.

The Member asked whether their assumption was correct that it would be an 18-month project in relation to the construction. Officers stated that the construction would be relatively quick as they were only looking at the north and south ends of the street and believe it could be condensed into around four or five months.

Another Member asked if there was provision for water fountains as part of the project given the Migration Museum would attract a lot of visitors and wanting people to be plastic free. Officers told the Sub-Committee they had not looking at it for Lloyds Avenue, but it could be looked at for Leadenhall and Aldgate as there was more space.

RESOLVED – That, Members:

- 1. Approved the development of the design of the project as described in this report to reach the next gateway.
- 2. Approved the budget of £60,000 (staff costs and fees) for the project to reach the next gateway, funded from the Section 106 agreement for the 40 Leadenhall Street development and the Cool Streets and Greening Programme (OSPR).
- 3. Noted the total estimated total cost of the project at £500K-670K (excluding risk).

- 4. Approved the Risk Register in Appendix 5; and delegate approval of any future costed risk provision and its drawdown to the Director of City Operations should this be required at Gateway 5.
- 5. Agreed to undertake the process to prepare the traffic orders to relocate payment, motorcycle, e-scooters, and cycle hire parking in the area in advance of Gateway 5 stage.
- 6. Noted that the making of the necessary traffic orders, subject to no objections, or the resolution and consideration of any objections arising from the statutory processes, is delegated to the Director of City Operations under the Scheme of Delegation.

7. 2 ALDERMANBURY SQUARE

The Sub-Committee received a Gateway 4: Detailed Options Appraisal report which sought to deliver changes to the public highway in the vicinity of the development at 2 Aldermanbury Square, also known as City Place House, through a Section 278 agreement that was fully funded by the developer.

A Member queried whether the roundabout would be taken away. Officers stated the intention was to slightly reconfigure it so it would become a more formal junction.

RESOLVED – That, Members:

- Authorised officers to progress with detailed designs for the recommended Option 2 outlined below to be fully funded by Section 278 agreement with the developer of 2 Aldermanbury Square and undertake relevant consultations, including Traffic Management Orders if necessary.
- 2. Authorised officers to invoice the developer for additional staff costs, as outlined Table 1 in section 3 below, required to progress the project to the next Gateway (Authority to Start Works).
- 3. Noted the total estimated cost of the project at £926,023 based on option 2 (excluding risk).
- 4. Noted that, as per the Projects Procedure and subject to approval of the recommended Option 2, and scope and costs remaining within the parameters agreed in this report, the approval of Gateway 5 report will be delegated to Director City Operations.
- 5. Approved the Risk Register in Appendix 6; and delegate approval of any future costed risk provision and its drawdown to Executive Director Environment should this be required at Gateway 5.
- 6. Delegated to the Director City Operations, in consultation with the Chamberlain, authority to further increase or amend the project budgets in future (above the level of existing delegated authority) provided any increase is fully funded by the developer, and the scope and timelines of the project remain unchanged.
- 8. CLIMATE ACTION STRATEGY, COOL STREETS AND GREENING PROGRAMME PHASE 3 CITY GREENING AND BIODIVERSITY (FANN STREET AND ST PETER WESTCHEAP)

The Sub-Committee received a Gateway 4: Detailed Design report which sought approval to progress to Gateway 5 following detailed designs for the relandscaping of Fann Street (west) and St Peter Westcheap churchyard having been prepared.

The Deputy Chairman indicated they had concerns about the £10m of investment for Golden Lane Recreation Centre and noted the sports board was not enthusiastic because the access was terrible, and it was not obvious that it was a public space. The Member added that there was one tiny red pedestrian desire line in the report, and all the other lines did not give access to the Recreation Centre and stated that the desire lines, which reflected the reality of the day, would be irrelevant following the £10m spend on the Recreation Centre. The Member told the Sub-Committee that a rethink was now needed as the £10m spend would change everything, had make the desire lines shown in the report obsolete, and there would likely be visitors who would walk past the garden and needed to know where to go to find the Recreation Centre.

A Member expressed disagreement and stated it was undoubtedly true that the Sub-Committee wanted visitors to understand how to get into the leisure centre and Officers had said that signage to ensure that people could find it would be part of the plan. The Member added that the park was wholly separate from the Recreation Centre which would continue to be used by people in the way it currently was and did not feel the scheme needed a complete redesign, but needed a very clear focus on ensure that visitors understood where the entrance was.

Another Member wanted to ensure that residents were happy with the project. They also asked what consultation had taken place and whether the Golden Lane Association had been consulted. The Member indicated they agreed on the need for signposting people to the Leisure Centre in order to limit anti-social behaviour (ASB) and anything that could be done to direct people to the Leisure Centre would be helpful. Officers indicated they had taken up three residents consultations beginning in Spring 2022, with the final consultation taking place in July 2023 where the final design was presented by the landscape architect. Officers added they had reviewed a lot of the concerns raised in relation to ASB and the security of the estate throughout the consultation and suggested the general feeling from residents was that creating greening in that area of the public highway did create a natural barrier and reduced the ongoing ASB with the existing seating and blocks. Officers further added that potentially, through the design process, the project would address the issues and told the Sub-Committee that they would be going back to consultation for comments at the final gateway process as they had wanted to co-design the project with residents rather than providing them with an option that they may not wish to take forward. Officers also told the Sub-Committee there were representatives from the wider community involved in the consultation, as well as those from the Golden Lane Estate.

The Chairman asked whether the design would get the go-ahead as presented if approved or whether there was scope to adjust it to improve the ability of

people to navigate and get to the sports centre. Officers confirmed they could make adjustments to the design as it was a Gateway 4 report before the Sub-Committee and the detail had not yet been finalised.

It was noted by a Member that there was an existing project which concerned the lighting in the area and queried whether that project was coordinated with the proposed project. Officers indicated it was and told the Sub-Committee that the lighting project sat with Housing. Officers added that they had consulted with Housing and would consult with the City Surveyors' team, the City of London Police, looking at security and safety, should approval be granted.

Another Member indicated they did not believe the scheme made any difference as to whether the Leisure Centre was more or less visible unless a big sign was erected and noted the Leisure Centre was accessible down a ramp, underground and around the corner. The Member added that they could not see residents objecting to that as they preferred that it was a leisure centre more for Golden Lane's use than for the whole city, which was what it was supposed to be. The Chairman considered whether a name change for the sports centre would make a difference as Golden Lane Leisure Centre potentially gave the wrong impression.

The Deputy Chairman highlighted the desire lines and stated none of the lines were going from the public street on Fann Street to the Golden Lane Recreation Centre and they were on the wrong level. He added there was only one line which was going in the right direction and the blue and green lines would take visitors the wrong way. Officers indicated the desire lines outlined how people currently moved through the space, and it did not show a desire line down the ramp as that was not part of what the exercise was looking to do. They added that all the movements shown in the report with the red lines would still be possible with the design as one would walk along Fann Street along the edge of the new planted area which would take one to the top of the ramp before the turn down to the leisure centre.

A Member queried if there had been a study with regard to how long the leisure centre would continue as there had been historic problems as it had needed to go out to tender multiple times and the swimming pool was a problem.

An Officer told the Sub-Committee that everyone appreciated it was an area that needed enhancing and the funding provision, specifically from the Cool Streets and Greening Programme, and the community feedback had indicated it needed to made better. Officers added that they did accept something else had happened that may change aspects of the project, and indicated if they would facilitate the other project to help people navigate to the leisure centre, the project was still a Gateway 4 and there would be an opportunity for signposting. However, they added that the Cool Streets and Greening Programme monies were time dependent, and it had to be spent or it would expire and an alternative way of funding would have to be sought and, they therefore, encouraged Members to approve the report, and would work with Community and Children's Services to see if this project would assist navigation to the leisure centre.

RESOLVED – That, Members:

- 1. Approved the budget adjustment/increase as per the Table 2 in Appendix 4 in order to fund the staff costs and fees required to reach the next gateway. (£31,000 proposed for Fann Street and £45,000 proposed for St Peters) see table 2.
- 2. Approved the design of the projects as set out in this report.
- 3. Approved the funding strategy for Fann Street as set out in Table 4 in Appendix 4 and note the estimated project cost post Gateway 5 (excluding risk) is £150,000 £230,000.
- 4. Approved the funding strategy for St Peter Westcheap as set out in Table 4 in Appendix 4 and note the estimated project cost post Gateway 5 (excluding risk) is £180,000 £350,000.
- 5. Approved the Risk Registers in Appendix 2; and delegate approval of any future costed risk provision and its drawdown to Executive Director Environment should this be required at Gateway 5.
- 6. Granted authority to City officers to enter into regulatory agreements with the Diocese of London and the Rector of St Vedast to carry out works on church land. In keeping with the various statutory powers in place for agreement between the Diocese of London and the City of London; to grant care management and maintenance to the City Corporation of a schedule of churchyard and disused burial sites throughout the City.

9. TRANSFORMING FLEET STREET - (FLEET STREET AREA PROGRAMME)

The Sub-Committee received a Gateway 2: Project Proposal report which proposed that the Transforming Fleet Street project would deliver change along the length of Fleet Street, with a focus on improving the experience for people walking, wheeling, cycling and spending time on the street. To enable this, changes to traffic movements would be necessary to allow for wider pavements, crossing improvements and public realm improvements.

A Member requested that performance metrics, potential risk, potential cost overruns and community engagement be included in reports.

Another Member drew attention to Ludgate Circus and suggested it would be difficult to deliver the transformational effect for cycling and pedestrians. The Member added there was an opportunity there to calm traffic to prevent speeding over the junction and, whilst it was outside the City's remit, discussions were needed with TfL to ensure change was delivered to realise the safety benefit.

The Chairman indicated that the BID had produced a number of proposals for Ludgate Circus that he felt were too ambitious to be practical and stated that the proposed project gave the opportunity to Members to make much needed progress. He further added that this was the highest priority public realm project in the area and most of the major building programmes on Fleet Street would be completed in two years, including Salisbury Square and the Telegraph building, and stated there was currently a pit lane in front of Salisbury Court that

presented a good argument for not needing a bus lane which would allow the widening of the pavements.

A Member suggested asking TfL to work with the City and identify what would make Fleet Street safe so future ideas could be built-in.

RESOLVED – That, Members:

- Approved the initiation of the Transforming Fleet Street project as part of the Fleet Street Area Programme;
- 2. Approved the budget of £565,285 (staff costs and fees) for the project to reach the next Gateway, funded from City CIL funding that has been approved for this project;
- 3. Noted the total estimated cost of the project at £9.5m 10.5m (excluding risk).

10. HOLBORN VIADUCT LIGHTING IMPROVEMENTS

The Sub-Committee received a Gateway 2: Project Proposal report. The project sought to develop and deliver an architectural lighting scheme to celebrate the heritage of the Grade II Listed Holborn Viaduct, whilst enhancing the environment for people walking and wheeling along Farringdon Street.

A Member sought clarity as to whether the City had been asked to put together a proposal so a stakeholder could figure out how to fund it. Officers confirmed that was the case, the Fleet Street Quarter BID had identified it as a priority and their board had committed funding to the project. Officers added that they were at a very early stage of trying to work out the feasibility of the project and informed Members that as it is a listed structure and TfL road, TfL lighting and Historic England would be interested. Officers confirmed that planning permission was needed.

RESOLVED – That, Members:

- 1. Approved the initiation of this project.
- 2. Approved the budget of £20,000 (staff costs) for the project to reach the next Gateway 3/4, funded from S106 receipts allocated to the Fleet Street Area Programme.
- 3. Noted the total estimated cost of the project at £150,000- £300,000 (excluding risk) which is expected to be paid for by external funds.

11. *ACCESSIBLE STREETS UPDATE

The Committee received a report that provided an update on actions to improve accessibility for people walking and wheeling.

RESOLVED – That, Members:

Noted the report.

12. *ANNUAL ON-STREET PARKING ACCOUNTS 2023/24 AND RELATED FUNDING OF HIGHWAY IMPROVEMENTS AND SCHEMES

The Committee received a report which highlighted that The City of London in common with other London authorities is required to report to the Mayor for London on action taken in respect of any deficit or surplus in its On Street Parking Account for a particular financial year.

RESOLVED – That, Members:

Noted the report.

13. *OUTSTANDING REFERENCES

Monument and London Bridge

The Chairman sought an update on the bus stop at London Bridge. Officers indicated they had spoken to TfL, in regard to a suggestion that the bus stop be moved further north to address a pinch point, who had confirmed it would not be possible to relocate the bus stop as there was guard railing along that area to protect the bridge structure which could not be removed and, with that railing in place, the bus stop could not be moved and be fully accessible. Officers confirmed that TfL was looking to make some improvements to the existing bus stop.

Parapet repairs

Officers informed the Sub-Committee they had spoken with TfL who had confirmed that the parapet repairs were a priority project for them and had submitted a funding bid which, if they were successful, would allow them to complete the detailed design for the works, as well as the other works required for delivery. Officers added it was complicated to deliver as it included two parts of the TfL road network and hoped that they would have received confirmation by the next meeting as to whether TfL had been successful in securing that funding. The Chairman queried whether it would ease congestion at the bus stop on London Bridge. Officers confirmed it would.

14. *DECISIONS TAKEN UNDER DELEGATED AUTHORITY OR URGENCY POWERS

The Sub-Committee received a report which advised Members of action taken by the Town Clerk in consultation with the Chairman and Deputy Chairman in accordance with Standing Order No. 41(b).

RESOLVED – That, Members:

Noted the report.

15. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE SUB COMMITTEE

A Member read a question to the Sub-Committee and noted there were two rough sleeping encampments which had become established in the City at Castle Baynard/Queen Victoria Street Pedestrian subway and Baynard House; and Peninsular House high level walkway above Lower Thames Street. The Member added that The Corporation quite correctly had taken a compassion first approach to rough sleepers working to find suitable accommodation with the aim of setting each person on a journey to a better life. However, it had become clear that the encampments gave the impression of an established community around which rough sleepers gathered and found a longer-term home. As each person was found accommodation their place appeared to be taken by another. This was an issue because such communities were demonstrably not safe for rough sleepers and is a cause of distress for members of the public who live and work near to them. The Member asked what steps could the Streets and Walkways Sub-Committee suggest to prevent the establishment of encampments and help to reduce the speed at which the place of each person successfully moved into accommodation was taken by a new entry to the encampment. The Member added that to avoid misunderstanding, the Corporation's commitment to the welfare of every person sleeping on the streets remained paramount.

The Chairman asked if the Member was looking at measures to discourage rough sleepers. The Member indicated that is why they had worded their question the way they had and sought the wisdom of the Sub-Committee and Officers. The Member stated he had been working behind the scenes on a paper on encampments and it was clear that the only way to address the issue was to have the involvement of the Planning and Transportation, particularly Streets and Walkways, and the Port Heath and Environment Committees as it had to be a multi-agency response. Officers indicated that the Environment Department was very heavily involved in the Safer City Partnership which was the multi-agency group taking a lead on the guestion of encampments and rough sleeping. They noted that the response was being led by Community and Children's Services and Environment Department Officers were supportive of them in seeking a multi-agency approach. Officers added they had identified that the City had not had a significant problem in this way, but had individual problems of rough sleeping and the two encampments that were now fairly well established had caused problems for the local community. Officers further noted that the Corporation needed to be seen to be thinking about how to keep people safe. Officers confirmed that, as a Sub-Committee, it was not an issue that Officers have had too many direct dealings with and noted that designing out rough sleeping had been a consideration on some schemes, but not a major one as there had been no need to respond to a major issue. Officers indicated they were more connected to the issue from the Port Heath & Environment Committee side of the issue in relation to cleansing, but Officers saw themselves as part of a multi-agency solution and not necessarily leaders in it. Officers indicated they were happy to be party to discussions in terms of public realm design under the umbrella of the Safer City Partnership but, at the moment, did not see anything that had been brought forward to brief the Sub-Committee on, but would if something arrived. Officers further told the Sub-Committee that there was a report expected to go to the Community and Children's Services Committee, the Homeless and Rough-Sleeping Committee,

the Police Authority Board and, potentially, the Port Heath and Environment Committee. Officers indicated they were very aware of the responsibilities of the department the remit of the Sub-Committee and if it needed to be involved.

The Member noted that neighbouring authorities had been reviewing the design of their built environment and stated, while he was intolerant of rough sleeping, was completely passionate about those who found themselves in that predicament and a collaborate approach was needed to address it. He added that the principle of better by design was something worth looking at.

At this point, the Chairman sought approval from the Committee to continue the meeting beyond two hours from the appointed time for the start of the meeting, in accordance with Standing Order 40, and this was agreed.

Another Member stated the practice of street cleansing, washing down and waking up rough sleepers and moving them on under Operation Poncho was an awful way to deal with the problem and indicated it was a nationwide issue which was only going to be solved by making more accommodation available. The Member added it was helpful to know where they currently were in relation to the camp and suggested posting a park guard to ensure they were safe. She also added that it was a shame that policy toward rough sleepers since Covid had been reversed and stated she did not want to go back to the days of Operation Poncho.

A Member queried whether other Members had received an email from the National Federation of the Blind who were showing a film named 'Buses Are Our Lifeline', which outlined the importance of buses to people with sight impairments, with a Q&A session and noted it was taking place at Portcullis House. The Member added concerns had been raised by the NFB about bus stops in the middle of the roads on floating islands and suggested that Members should go to the event on 3rd December as it would assist with decision making.

A Member raised a question in regard to the Eastern City BID public realm document and suggested it would be helpful to have a report which considered how their ideas fit in with the Streets & Walkways Sub-Committee's work.

The issue of servicing was also raised by a Member as the Corporation previously had a strict policy on not allowing street servicing and sought assurance that when applicants were having their pre-application meetings, transport and public realm Officers were fully engaged with the applicants as it was difficult to change designs further down the line. The Member also expressed concern as there was an application in their ward which had workable servicing on site and the proposal was to change that which would be problematic and cause bottlenecks. The Member stated that the development servicing should have no impact on the surrounding area and should be contained within the building. The Member asked what policy there was with regard to servicing being on site rather than on the streets, and at what point transport and public realm officers were engaged with planning applications. The Chairman asked why transport officers tended not to be in attendance at

meetings of the Planning Applications Sub-Committee. Officers explained that the planning team engaged with transport officers as part of the pre-application process, but it was ultimately the transport planners in the planning team who built the feedback into the approvals. The Chairman stated he believed that the policy was to require servicing within buildings and, but there were exceptions normally if there was an attempt to reuse an exisiting building. The Member stated that there were buildings where servicing was taking place, but when redesigns occurred, it was an issue not thought about by developers and noted in their ward that one vehicle pulling up for servicing would cause gridlocks. The Member stated that as more tall buildings were erected, the City needed to make sure that streets wee clear for pedestrians and everything else that needed to be accommodated on the streets, including e-bikes. The Chairman indicated he agreed.

16. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT

Floating bus stops

The Chairman raised the issue of floating bus stops as there were concerns, noted that there had been accidents with pedestrians and queried what the Officer view was on the safety of the bus stops. The Chairman added that more had been planned in the City at Greyfriars Square and Aldgate to Blackfriars cycleway and stated he accepted that little could be done about TfL installed stops. Officers told the Sub-Committee they acknowledged that there were some people who rode bikes and did not behave appropriately, as with all street-users, and did not comply with the zebra crossings which for a floating bus stop met the design guidance. Officers added they felt some of the issues stemmed from people not understanding they were zebra crossings as they did not have the beacons that a crossing on the carriageway would which was part of the reasons why TfL had recently completed a review that looked at bus stop bypasses and the behaviour around them. Officers stated that TfL wanted to launch an educational campaign to make people aware of how to behave at bus stop bypasses and Officers indicated they would support that when it launched through communication channels. Officers added they were working with the City of London Police more generally to try to address dangerous behaviour with cycling and noted that the Police had done guite a lot of work around that as well.

Officers indicated there was a question around behaviour, which would be tackled through communications, enforcement, and engagement as appropriate by TfL, the City of London Police and the Metropolitan Police outside the City. As for the question of design, Officers informed the Sub-Committee that schemes had been approved at St. Paul's Gyratory and the Aldgate to Blackfriars Cycleway that had floating bus stops, and all were designed in compliance with TfL's guidance and guidance from the Department for Transport. Officers added that they included zebra crossings and were raised as well.

A Member queried whether TfL had statistics available on floating bus stops on whether they were a real source of accidents. Officers indicated they did and was happy to circulate the report to Members. Officers added the report found

there was a perception of them not being safe and noted there had been six collisions over the time period examined, several of which had not been at the formal crossing point and there were low levels of conflict between pedestrians crossing and people cycling. Officers also stated that TfL had also reviewed all their existing bus stop bypasses as some were not necessarily complaint with current guidelines and needed to be upgraded.

It was stated by a Member that the Sub-Committee needed to be doing its utmost to not create more of the floating bus stops. The Chairman voiced agreement and asked Officers to review Greyfriars Square. Officers indicated they could, but would cause a delay to the project if it was decided to make changes to that and approvals would need to be resubmitted to TfL. Officers indicated that it would be coming to Sub-Committee in February for the Gateway 5 stage.

Another Member advocated a need for a safety-by-design approach and indicated there had been problems with the floating bus stop on New Bridge Street as they had previously had to escort people to the bus stop. The Member added that the City should be accessible, equal, and pedestrians should be able to get around with a sense of independence. She further stated that while it would be harder to tackle TfL's floating stops, the City of London should review any of their proposals including them before they became a problem.

It was stated by a Member that the point of the point of the floating bus stops was to keep cycles away from the traffic and give them a physical barrier on places like New Bridge Street and suggested there would be accidents if there was no physical barrier. Another Member indicated measures had been taken to raise pavements and narrow the carriageways and cyclists should be able to cycle safely with traffic at that speed and, therefore, design bus stops which were not floating in the middle of the road.

Officers told the Sub-Committee that the transport strategy set out to create a safe and accessible cycle network and the vast majority of that network in the City would be people cycling in the carriageway with traffic on the streets that have lower traffic levels. Officers added there was also the 20mph speed limit, and there were some streets where traffic levels were unlikely to ever meet the standards for safe cycling and noted that there were people who used cycles as mobility aids. Officers indicated they were only looking to install floating bus stops where they felt it was absolutely necessary and cycleways such as Leadenhall would only have the carriageways narrowed. Officer suggested it would be best to bring something back to the Sub-Committee in relation to the proposals already in the pipeline, look at the data that TfL had on those bus stops within the Square Mile, and across London, and Officers were following the nationally approved DfT guidance which had consulted various groups. Officers further added at every stage they engaged with disability groups to understand their concerns and understood Member's concerns.

Fleet Street Crossing

A Member raised concerns regarding the removal of the crossing between Ludgate Circus and Felter Lane as there was nowhere to safely cross the road. She had noted her husband had complained to TfL who indicated it was an issue for the City of London. The Chairman added there was a pit lane set to be installed in relation to 65 Fleet Street to facilitate the redevelopment of that building which was at the site of the crossing. The Chairman stated he understood that Fleet Street was a TfL road and wanted to understand the process for the crossing's removal as it was a major desire line across that area of Fleet Street. Officers informed the Sub-Committee that the pedestrian control traffic signal was TfL's infrastructure, TfL's bus stop was part of the process, and Fleet Street was part of TfL's Strategic Road Network, so while it was not a red route, they did have strategic oversight and added it was the same principle why TfL's approval was needed to change Bank Junction. Officers added that the removal of the crossing was to allow for the pit lane for the building site which was agreed could be put in following the Lord Mayor's Show. Officers further noted that TfL's stance was that the crossing point of Felter Lane was close enough to that crossing and was suitable enough to utilised pedestrian movements in the area. Officers confirmed that the pit lane was now being deployed, the crossing decommissioned and were in conversations with TfL Buses as there was a bus stop to the west of Bouverie Street which needed to be slightly moved to allow for a pedestrian refuge that would allow pedestrian movement across the space. Officers further added they were not impressed with the building site moving as fast they did to remove the controlled crossing.

The Chairman asked when the pedestrian refuge would be installed. Officers indicated they were awaiting confirmation from TfL that the bus stop could be moved up the road so the work could be carried out.

17. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC

RESOLVED - That under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part I of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act as follows:-

18. *ANNUAL ON-STREET PARKING ACCOUNTS 2023/24 AND RELATED FUNDING OF HIGHWAY IMPROVEMENTS AND SCHEMES - NON-PUBLIC APPENDIX

The Sub-Committee received a non-public appendix in relation to Item 12 of the Agenda Pack.

19. NON-PUBLIC QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE SUB COMMITTEE

No non-public questions were raised relating to the work of the Sub-Committee.

20. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT AND WHICH THE SUB COMMITTEE AGREES SHOULD BE CONSIDERED WHILST THE PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED

No other business was raised that the Chairman considered urgent which the Sub-Committee agreed should be considered whilst the public were excluded.

The meeting ended at 4.13 pm		
Chairman		
Chairman		

Contact Officer: Callum Southern Callum.Southern@cityoflondon.gov.uk